FILED

SID J. WHITE

JUN 24 1996

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Appellate Case No. 86,836

CLERK, BUPTANA COURT

LARRY CLARK,

Appellant,

v .

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

Appeal From A Judgment Of The Circuit Court Of The Thirteenth Judicial Circuit of the State of Florida, Criminal Division, In And For Hillsborough County,

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT LARRY CLARK

Patrick D. Doherty 619 Turner Street Clearwater, FL 34616 (813) 443-0405 Florida Bar No. 0155447

Richard G. Parker
Thomas J. Karr
Matthew B. Pachman
Evelyn L. Becker
Brian P. Brooks
O'MELVENY & MYERS LLP
555 13th Street, N.W.
Suite 500 West
Washington, D.C. 20004-1109
(202) 383-5300

Counsel for Larry Clark

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Clark raises several claims in this appeal which, Mr. Clark respectfully submits, merit relief. Two claims, both directed at his sentence, are of such overriding importance as to warrant particular attention:

First, a life sentence is <u>legally compelled</u> under <u>Scott v. Dugger</u>, 604 So. 2d 465 (Fla. 1992), because Mr. Clark's equally culpable codefendant Davidson James has had his death sentence overturned and received a life sentence.

Second, the court below refused to hear compelling evidence that Mr. Clark's trial counsel was utterly ineffective at sentencing. Trial counsel advised the jury in summation that this was the "most difficult" argument for life that he had ever made. Trial counsel failed to investigate and present a wealth of that would have established several mitigating evidence circumstances. Despite this, the jury vote recommending death was close (8-4), making patent the prejudice from these serious failures. In denying Mr. Clark's 3.850 motion, however, the court ordered Mr. Clark to proffer testimony concerning ineffectiveness without hearing any of the proffered testimony, including that of attorney Robert Link, who would have given an expert opinion as to counsel's ineffectiveness.

¹ "Court below" refers to the court which ruled on Mr. Clark's Amended Motion. "Trial court" refers to the court hearing his 1982 trial. Judge Padgett presided over both proceedings.

On the first claim, Mr. Clark is entitled to an order directing the court below to resentence Mr. Clark to life; failing that, on the second claim Mr. Clark is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on his claim that counsel was ineffective at sentencing.

* * * * *

This proceeding began in December, 1984, when Mr. Clark filed a pro se Rule 3.850 motion to vacate his conviction and sentence. The Hillsborough County Circuit Court denied the motion without an evidentiary hearing before Mr. Clark obtained counsel. This Court reversed that ruling, holding that the denial of Mr. Clark's claims of ineffective assistance of counsel was improper because the lower court failed to attach record excerpts showing conclusively that Mr. Clark was not entitled to relief. Clark v. State, 491 So. 2d 545, 547 and n.1 (Fla. 1986). The Court relinquished jurisdiction to permit Mr. Clark, through counsel, to raise additional claims. Id. at 547.

On August 8, 1986, Mr. Clark filed an augmented Rule 3.850 Motion, and subsequently filed discovery requests to which the court below in February 1989 ordered the State to respond. The State responded and made documents available in January 1992. Subsequently, Mr. Clark filed an Amended Motion for Post-Conviction Relief ("Amended Motion"), pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850, on July 23, 1992. The Amended Motion added no new claims. It separated out as a distinct claim the allegations in Count R, see R. 60-61, 75-76, deleted two claims, and added certain factual

allegations that came to light in discovery. Mr. Clark served additional discovery requests in February 1993. R. 121-208. On May 15, 1995, the court below ordered the State to respond to the discovery requests (as it again did on May 18, 1995, R. 209-11) and to respond to Mr. Clark's Amended Motion. It also ordered that an evidentiary hearing be held on Mr. Clark's claims. See R. 16A. Mr. Clark then filed a Motion for Directed Judgment based on the life sentence which the State gave Mr. Clark's equally culpable codefendant Davidson James following the reversal of James's death sentence in James v. State, 615 So. 2d 668 (Fla. 1993) ("James II"). R. 215-53.

On September 27, 1995 the court below denied all but one of Mr. Clark's claims without a hearing, ruling that many of these claims 2 were procedurally barred. R. 329-31.

Counts B, C and D, which attacked the State's failure to produce exculpatory evidence (including evidence relating to the

² Counts A (race based use of peremptory challenges), B (destruction of exculpatory evidence), H (coercion of defense witness), I (allowing testimony that co-defendant was apprehensive at giving handwriting exemplar), J (no finding Mr. Clark killed or attempted to kill), K (invalid 1972 robbery conviction used as aggravating factor), L (merger of "pecuniary gain" and "in course of robbery" aggravators), M (improper finding of "for purpose of avoiding arrest" aggravator), N (improper instruction on vague "heinous, atrocious and cruel" aggravator), O (improper finding of "cold, calculated and premeditated" aggravating factor), P (violation of Caldwell v. Mississippi), Q (failure to instruct jury on option of recommending a life sentence), R (improper instruction that jury must disregard sympathy), T (death sentence here violates fundamental principles of proportional justice). R. 20-119, 326-29. Mr. Clark appeals each count except Count H.

jailhouse informant James Coleman and to the alleged identification of Mr. Clark), were dismissed on the ground that there was no reasonable probability that this evidence would have affected the outcome of the proceedings. R. 329. Mr. Clark's Counts E, F and G, claiming, inter alia that the State suborned perjury from Coleman, were dismissed on the ground that Mr. Clark had not shown an inability to investigate these matters at trial, R. 330, even though Mr. Clark had contended that this relevant and requested information had been withheld by the state. R. 37, 39-40.

The court also summarily denied Mr. Clark's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel at the guilt phase, holding that Mr. Clark "fail[ed] to show" prejudice from any deficient performance that might have existed. R. 331. Mr. Clark made a timely motion for reconsideration on October 12, 1995. Finally, the court held that because it "is unable to refute" Mr. Clark's claim for ineffective assistance of counsel at sentencing, "an evidentiary hearing will be held to address the merits" of this claim. Id. It also ordered Mr. Clark preliminarily to proffer the testimony which he intended present at the evidentiary hearing. The court advised that "[u]pon a determination by the court that a witness's proffered testimony is relevant . . ., the witness will then be permitted to testify at the . . . hearing." Id. 3

³ Since the court below ruled that an evidentiary hearing "will be held," with the proffer only intended to allow the court below to make relevancy findings about Mr. Clark's witnesses, Mr. Clark did not include all documentary evidence buttressing his claim in his proffer. Had the court below indicated that it wanted this evidence before an evidentiary hearing would be granted, rather

On October 9, 1995, the court below heard argument on Mr. Clark's proffer and his Motion for Directed Judgment. The court below denied his motion because "I don't think there's any precedent for it." R. 609. On October 17, the court below denied Mr. Clark's motion for reconsideration. On October 31, the court below entered a one-paragraph opinion summarily denying Mr. Clark's Motion for Directed Judgment. R. 584. It also denied without an evidentiary hearing Mr. Clark's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel at sentencing. R. 585. Without appending any record excerpts pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850(d), the court held (1) that there was no reasonable probability that the outcome at the penalty phase would have been different had trial counsel remedied the performance deficiencies identified by Mr. Clark's proffered evidence, and (2) that trial counsel's performance of both phases of the trial4 was not deficient, and that the deficiencies alleged by Mr. Clark did not create a reasonable probability that the outcome would have been different. Id. Mr. Clark timely appealed these rulings in an Amended Notice of Appeal filed on November 14, 1995. R. 587-89.

than at the hearing itself, Mr. Clark would have gladly provided it.

⁴ The court indicated that it was evaluating a proffer on both the guilt and penalty phases of Mr. Clark's trial. It wrote that it had considered trial counsel's preparation and presentation of "both phases of the trial," finding no reasonable probability that the outcome "of either phase of the trial" would have been different with the proffered testimony. R. 585. However, the court only requested a proffer on the penalty phase evidence.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

As the court below rejected many of Mr. Clark's claims on the face of his Amended Motion, the facts alleged therein will be presented in the arguments on those counts. Relevant facts are summarized below for those claims where adjudication in this Court requires examination of the proffer and other record evidence.

I. MR. CLARK'S EQUALLY CULPABLE CODEFENDANT WAS GIVEN A LIFE SENTENCE.

In a separate trial, Davidson James was convicted as a coconspirator and equal participant in the robbery and murder. While the state had argued that Mr. Clark was the gunman in the shootings, the prosecutor told both the court and jury that James was equally culpable and, like Mr. Clark, should be sentenced to die. The State told the jury that James "set it up. . . . He did everything. And you know what inequality and injustice is going to be: When Larry Clark is sentenced to death for the same crime as Davidson James." R. 242.

The trial court agreed with the state and found the same aggravating circumstances as were found in Mr. Clark's case⁵ (along with no mitigating circumstances) and sentenced Mr. James to death.

R. 407-15. Notably, James' trial court held that "[t]he acts of [James] reflect the highest degree of calculation and

⁵ Indeed, while the State introduced one old conviction for Mr. Clark, it introduced four prior convictions for James, including ones for robbery and resisting arrest with violence. <u>See</u> R. 407-08.

FILED

SID J. WHITE

DEC 19 1996

premeditation." R. 412. This Court underscored Mr. James' equal CLERK, SUPREME COURT culpability in ordering his death sentence:

| Chief Deputy Clerk | By Chief Deputy Clerk | By Chief Deputy Clerk | Chief Deputy Clerk

it is clear that this entire episode was a joint operation by James and Clark. . . . Under these circumstances we find that the aggravating circumstances which arose because of the motive and method of the killing are equally applicable to the two participants.

<u>James v. State</u>, 453 So. 2d 786, 792 (Fla.) ("<u>James I</u>"), <u>cert</u>. denied, 469 U.S. 1098 (1984) (emphasis added).

In 1992, this Court overturned James' death sentence because the jury had been given an unconstitutionally vague instruction on Florida's "heinous, atrocious and cruel" aggravating factor (the "HAC factor"). See James II, 615 So. 2d at 669. Even though the court found no mitigating circumstances, and even though the HAC factor had already been struck on James' direct appeal, James I, 453 So. 2d at 792, the court ruled that the jury's recommendation of death might have been improperly influenced by the vague HAC factor instruction, and ordered a new sentencing hearing. See James II, 615 So. 2d at 669. Notably, the same vague HAC factor instruction was given by the trial judge in Mr. Clark's case, TR 10696, where it had likewise been struck by this Court as being unsupported by the evidence. See Clark, 443 So. 2d at 977.

Following <u>James II</u>, the state decided not to seek the death penalty against James and the trial court imposed a jail sentence on James for his capital murder conviction, consecutive to

⁶ "TR" refers to the 1982 trial record in Mr. Clark's case. Trial record excerpts are in the Appendix being filed with this brief.

his minimum three-year sentences for attempted murder and robbery. Thus, James may be eligible for parole in 2012.

II. TRIAL COUNSEL'S DEFICIENT PERFORMANCE AT SENTENCING.

Mr. Clark's trial counsel, appointed two months after the Public Defender's office had chosen to represent James and moved to Clark's case, R. 1, 77, was a general withdraw from Mr. practitioner who worked alone. When he was assigned to represent Mr. Clark, he was also handling several civil and criminal matters. R. 497-98. Counsel believed the statutory fee rate afforded him in capital cases interfered with the Sixth Amendment right to counsel and was confiscatory of his time. R. 468-69.7 Counsel did not enlist a second attorney to handle the penalty phase, even though that was his typical practice and even though he believed that if he were to lose the guilt phase he would lack credibility with the jury at sentencing, impairing his ability effectively to represent his client. R. 467, 471-72. He did not hire an investigator even though the trial court would typically grant requests to hire investigators at state expense. R. 464-65; see also 569-78 (no time entries regarding seeking to hire investigator).

Brought in late, counsel focused on guilt phase issues, see R. 569-78, to the severe detriment of his penalty phase preparation. Beyond filing a few standard motions challenging the constitutionality of Florida's death penalty statute, see id.,

⁷ <u>See Hillsborough County v. Unterberger</u>, 534 So.2d 838, 840 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1988), <u>review denied</u>, 544 So.2d 201 (Fla. 1989).

motions paralleling those previously filed by James' counsel, counsel devoted virtually no time to making a mitigation case. For example, he did not contact Mr. Clark's family in Tampa to see if they could provide mitigating evidence or refer counsel to others who might. See id.; R. 354, 523. Indeed, trial counsel did not speak to Mr. Clark's mother until the morning of the sentencing hearing, a meeting that Mrs. Clark initiated. Counsel asked her nothing about Mr. Clark's history and advised her that her son would likely get the electric chair. R. 354.

Similarly, counsel did not contact Mr. Clark's long-time employer, Charles Rocker, to see if he might testify on Mr. Clark's behalf, even though counsel knew of Mr. Rocker, knew that Mr. Rocker was Mr. Clark's former employer and was present at Mr. Clark's trial. See R. 530.8 Counsel's sworn time records reflect that he made no effort to contact other friends of Mr. Clark's who would have testified on Mr. Clark's behalf. R. 569-78. He did not even visit Mr. Clark's family's house. R. 523. Counsel's factual preparation consisted of sending a brief letter to Dr. Walter Afield (a psychiatrist whom he had retained) requesting that he examine Mr. Clark. He also asked Mr. Clark's girlfriend to testify.

⁸ The judge below (who also presided over Mr. Clark's trial), when told that Mr. Rocker was one of Mr. Clark's mitigating witnesses for the Rule 3.850 hearing, asked, "Didn't Mr. Rocker testify at trial?" R. 613. He had, as a state witness, identifying a photograph of Mr. Clark. R. 357. He was asked no questions on mitigation, however. <u>Id</u>.

As reflected in counsel's time records, which detail the full amount of work he did on this case, R. 564, counsel spent a total of 3.74 hours in preparing Mr. Clark's mitigation case. R. 572, 577. Notably, all but fifteen minutes of that time came on April 16, the day of the penalty hearing. R. 577-78.

One principal effect of counsel's failure to prepare for the penalty phase was a very harmful closing argument. In his summation, counsel:

- told the jury "this is the most difficult case that I have ever had" to make a penalty phase argument on;
- said Mr. Clark wanted to live, "Not necessarily that he deserves it";
- lamented that he couldn't understand why anyone would shoot someone for ninety dollars, but that "it happens all the time with these types of people";
- opined that Mr. Clark was from "the underbelly of society," "must be classified as a bad person," and "comes from that group of people who create" the crime problem in the United States;
- agreed with the prosecutor "that people like Mr. Clark should be stopped";
- disavowed his expert testimony by telling the jury,
 "I am not saying that Larry Clark is the subject of or can be rehabilitated" and stressing that few

On February 5, Counsel spent .25 hours drafting a letter to Afield; on April 16, he spent .41 hours preparing Marian Arnett and 3.08 hours "preparing penalty phase." <u>Id</u>. While counsel also spent approximately one hour (on February 9 and April 13) attending and reviewing the deposition of Ms. Arnett, <u>see id</u>., this dealt with guilt phase, not penalty phase, issues. Also, while on April 10 (three days before the guilt phase), there is an entry for 2.75 hours for "review depo[sition]" and death case," R. 575, there is nothing to suggest that this entry involved preparation of Mr. Clark's mitigation case.

persons sent to Florida State Prison are ever rehabilitated; and

• informed the jury that the only reason he was giving the closing was because "I am required to". TR 1054-67.

The other main effect of counsel's lack of preparation is that he presented inadequate mitigating evidence. Indeed, the penalty phase hearing was an exceedingly brief, perfunctory proceeding. Including sidebars, testimony, summations and jury instructions, it lasted just over two hours. TR 1001, 1045-46, 1073. Not surprisingly, what little testimony that was presented by Mr. Clark's counsel was given highly superficial treatment. 10

As Mr. Clark's proffer to the court below shows, 11 a reasonable investigation, coupled with reasonably adequate preparation of his psychiatric expert would have yielded a wealth of mitigating evidence. In particular, Mr. Clark proffered the testimony of his mother Utah Clark, Charles Rocker (a Tampa businessman and attorney) and his longtime friend Ernest Gilyard. Trial counsel had made no effort to speak to any of these people, all of whom lived in Tampa. Had counsel done his job adequately and put on these witnesses, R. 351-59, the jury that narrowly

Counsel also diminished Marian Arnett's testimony, saying he called her "for one reason and one reason only. Yes, I wanted you to be aware of the fact Mr. Clark has a child." TR 1058.

¹¹ Because the Court below dismissed the Amended Motion without an evidentiary hearing, this proffer must be treated as proven. Mendyk v. State, 592 So. 2d 1076, 1079 (Fla. 1992).

recommended death would have learned the following things about Mr. Clark:

Clark was born into abject poverty in rural Mr. His biological father denied parenthood, and Mississippi. abandoned him to his mother. He grew up deprived and poorly educated in Tampa. He was severely asthmatic as a youth, missed a lot of school and was repeatedly hospitalized. Despite this, Mr. Clark helped his parents while they worked by taking care of his five siblings, cleaning, cooking and looking after them. errands for neighbors, helped them with yard work, and assisted them with household tasks. Mr. Clark also showed artistic talent. but turned down a chance to study art out of state in order to stay with his family. As an older youth, Mr. Clark worked several jobs in the Tampa area, and regularly offered his family financial help. Friends knew him as an amiable, generous and peaceful person. was also respectful and helpful toward the elderly people in the community. Id.

As a teenager, Mr. Clark was arrested for a non-violent offense, but was sent to the maximum security Union Correctional Institute ("UCI"), where he was beaten and abused. When he was later jailed for robbery, Mr. Clark strove to better himself, earning a G.E.D. in prison and securing early release. R. 25, 72, 353-55, 393.

Upon his release, Mr. Clark returned to work for Mr. Rocker. He did challenging physical labor, including sign pole maintenance and installing public bus benches. Mr. Rocker regarded him as trustworthy, and he worked unsupervised, handling valuable company property. Mr. Clark sought to improve his prospects by attending community college and by taking welding classes. He refused to take money from Mr. Rocker to pay for these classes. Mr. Clark looked out for Mr. Rocker's young son, Chad, and had a close relationship with the young son of another of Mr. Rocker's employees. R. 355-58.

Unfortunately, Mr. Clark's efforts to better his education and job skills were cut short when, while riding a motorcycle, he was severely injured when he was hit by a pickup truck. His leg and hip were so severely injured that amputation was contemplated. Mr. Clark was hospitalized for several months, and had to drop his welding classes and go on public assistance. When he finally emerged from the hospital with a pronounced limp, unable to do the strenuous physical labor to which he was accustomed, he nonetheless tried to undertake other work. R. 72, 353-55.

Beyond the lay testimony of those personally familiar with his life, Mr. Clark proffered the testimony of Dr. Harry Krop, a psychiatric expert. Dr. Krop has performed psychological evaluations in 552 first-degree murder cases, including 215

involving death row inmates, and has testified as an expert for both the state and the defense in criminal and civil cases.

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