IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SEP 30 1996

CLERK, SUPPLIES COURT

LARRY CLARK,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 86,836

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee,

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. LANDRY
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar I.D. No. 0134101
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607
(813)873-4739

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

sentencing judge which included information that was a key factor convincing the judge to impose a sentence of death and completed his disloyalty at the sentencing trial by stressing the brutality of the crimes and the difficulty his client had presented throughout his representation.

In contrast, trial counsel in the instant case, Simson

Unterberger, did not wait until the conclusion of the trial

before commencing preparation of penalty phase (R 522) and in

fact used both a lay witness, Marian Arnett, to humanize Clark by

eliciting that he was a loving father to his child and a mental

health expert, Dr. Walter Afield, to describe his deprived

personality. He considered and chose not to have appellant's

mother testify because she was inarticulate (R 526), a judgment

confirmed by Afield's description of the family as primitive.

As stated above, appellant isolates and removes from context a few of defense counsel's comments at closing argument, overlooking that counsel did act as an advocate by pointing out the length of incarceration resulting from a life sentence (OR 1055), that the jury had a serious responsibility whether to accede to the state's request for a premeditated killing of appellant Clark (OR 1056), that the instant homicide did not qualify for an HAC finding (OR 1057), that there is good in all

of us (a loving father to Marian Arnett's child) (OR 1058-59), that Dr. Afield had described Clark's deprived environment (OR 1060), that society had some ambivalence regarding capital punishment and that Clark had gaps in his personality (OR 1062), that Clark would be helpless if ever released from prison (OR 1064), that the instant homicide and surrounding aggravators was an episode lasting only a few minutes (OR 1065), that other crimes by others who received life were more horrible and that if the jury made a mistake the result would be irrevocable (OR 1066-67). Counsel hardly abandoned his client. Cf. White v
Singletary, 972 F.2d 1218, 1224 (11th Cir. 1992).

(B) Alleged Failure to Present Available Mitigating Evidence

To evaluate counsel's performance we must first examine what counsel did. Trial counsel called Dr. Afield, an expert in the

^{*}Nor can appellant take comfort in King v. Strickland, 748 F.2d 1462 (11th Cir. 1984). The court pointed out there that trial counsel had never tried a capital case and was unassisted; Unterberger, in contrast, had experience previously as an assistant public defender and this was his fourth capital case (OR 1064). In King, counsel had done little to search for mitigating evidence; sub judice, counsel called a mental health expert and Marian Arnett after determining that Clark's mother would not make a good witness. The King court approvingly cited Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984) as involving an argument to humanize the client -- as Unterberger did here -- and a residual doubt argument -- as Unterberger made here.

field of psychiatry, to the stand (Petitioner's Appendix TR 1028-1041). Dr. Afield testified that he saw Mr. Clark in the jail setting, talking with his family, doing an extensive battery of psychological testing and attempting to learn about him (his strengths and weaknesses) (TR 1028). Afield testified that Clark was a man of marginal intelligence, low IQ with probably learning disability from early childhood, seriously depressed (TR 1029). Clark had spent considerable periods of his life in jail settings with really no treatment; he suffered from problems that he did not have good control over (TR 1030). His family was primitive although stable in many ways. Clark was deprived, depressed and angry (TR 1031-32). If there had been early intervention they might not be there today (TR 1033). The possibility of rehabilitation existed but it would take a long period of time (TR 1034). On cross-examination Afield admitted that Clark posed a danger without any kind of treatment and in the Florida state prison system depending on the location there is non-existent, marginal or pretty decent help (TR 1036). Exposure to other people in prison could be beneficial or negative and he might not voluntarily submit to treatment while in prison (TR 1037). He could not say with certainty what would happen in twenty-five years (TR 1038). On redirect Afield opined that propensity for

danger dissipates with age (TR 1044).

Trial counsel also elicited the testimony of Marian Arnett who bore Clark's ten-month-old daughter (TR 1042). Clark always contributed financially to the support of the child (TR 1043). He was a loving, caring father (TR 1044).

Appellant now argues that trial counsel was derelict in failing to call as a mitigation witness former employer Charles Rocker. Rocker had testified at guilt phase as a state witness identifying appellant's vehicle and providing his address to the police (OR 543-544). Appellant argues that Rocker could have testified to Clark's good qualities as an employee and expert attorney Link comments that as a prior state witness he would have been "virtually unimpeachable."

Suffice it to say that the prosecutors would have been ecstatic to have the jury reminded of the very facts of the crime -- killing a former employer for money and because the victim could identify him -- and to be told what a valued and trustworthy worker he was. Appellee does not know whether Rocker would have been an "unimpeachable witness" but almost certainly no cross-examination would have been necessary.

⁷The tactic advanced by collateral counsel approaches a mitigation argument that the Menendez brothers are orphans in

Appellant next asserts that counsel was deficient in not utilizing his mother, Utah Clark. Trial counsel Unterberger specifically testified that he had talked to Mrs. Clark and she would have been a poor witness because she was not articulate (R 526), confirmed by Afield's trial testimony that the family was primitive (TR 1031). As the Supreme Court noted in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984):

"... strategic choices made after thorough investigation of law and facts relevant to plausible options are virtually unchallengeable."

(80 L.Ed.2d at 695). Accord, <u>Porter v. Singletary</u>, 14 F.3d 554, 556-600 (11th Cir. 1994).

Next Clark contends that counsel should have utilized longtime friend Ernest Gilyard to testify to his non-violent disposition and respect for the elderly. Counsel did not inquire of Mr. Unterberger at deposition concerning Mr. Gilyard. It should be noted that Gilyard's innocuous proffered testimony of non-violent behavior seemingly would have been at cross-purposes with Dr. Afield's testimony; Clark's respect for the elderly would -- yet again -- have reminded the jury of his 'respect" for the elderly helpless Mrs. Satey. Adequate evidence of his caring

California.

nature was provided through the testimony of Marian Arnett.

Appellant complains that trial counsel failed adequately to develop and present psychiatric testimony; apparently, collateral counsel would have preferred more detailed questions propounded to Dr. Afield so that he could be more expansive. Dr. Afield testified that he performed a battery of psychological tests and was able to testify to Clark's low IQ and problems with learning from early childhood. He was able to testify that Clark dropped out of school, got his G.E.D. in prison and was deprived (TR 1028-1030). That other counsel might have asked additional questions to elicit the same type of testimony does not render trial counsel Unterberger ineffective. See King v. State, 597 so. 2d 780 (Fla. 1992) (rejecting contentions that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to provide more information to mental health experts); Bottoson v. State, so. 2d , 21 Florida Law Weekly S205, 206 (Fla. 1996) (court could not say evidence raised reasonable probability that result would have been different if defense attorney had introduced mental health testimony or called witnesses regarding a troubled childhood).

Counsel does not render ineffective assistance merely by failing to offer cumulative mitigation on the theory that 'more is necessarily better." Woods, 531 So. 2d 79, 82 (Fla.

1988); Maxwell v. State, 490 So. 2d 927, 932 (Fla. 1986) ("The fact that a more thorough and detailed presentation could have been made does not establish counsel's performance as deficient. It is almost always possible to imagine a more thorough job being done than was actually done. Moreover, it is highly doubtful that more complete knowledge of appellant's childhood circumstances, mental and emotional problems, school and prison records, etc. would have influenced the jury to recommend or the judge to impose a sentence of life imprisonment rather than death.")

Appellant mentions that the most prejudicial part of the presentation of Dr. Afield was "one that counsel easily could have avoided with preparation" (Brief, p. 43). He complains that Afield said Clark had several convictions, citing TR 1036.

Actually, at TR 1036, Afield was responding to a question by the prosecutor on cross-examination regarding Clark being in prison and Afield answered:

'He told me his history. I don't remember all the specifics. I knew he had been in and out several times."

(TR 1036). Appellant does not explain how trial defense counsel could by preparation control a prosecutor's question and obviously, Afield answered as to what Clark had told him. There

was nothing damaging that trial counsel did that was wrong or prejudicial unlike the situation in <u>Stevens v. State</u>, 552 So. 2d 1082 (Fla. 1989).

There was no deficiency in performance by Mr. Unterberger; thus, it is really unnecessary to address the second "prejudice" prong of the <u>Strickland</u> analysis.⁸ Had counsel adopted the hindsight strategy now urged -- using a former employer to attest to his trustworthiness, etc. -- the death recommendation could as likely have been unanimous rather than eight to four.

But clearly there is no prejudice to satisfy the <u>Strickland</u> test. Counsel now merely engages in second-guessing hindsight criticism because the best possible result was not achieved. Subsequent counsel's judgment is not better nor would the use of cumulative witnesses have changed the result.

ISSUE III

WHETHER ERRORS IN THE APPLICATION OF FLORIDA'S AGGRAVATING AND MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES REQUIRES RESENTENCING.

Appellant contends next that the HAC jury instruction was vague, that the trial court erred in failing to consider and find nonstatutory mitigating circumstances, that the trial court erred in instructing the jury on aggravators (5) (d) and (5) (f) of F.S. 921.141, that the trial court erred in finding that the murder was committed for the purpose of avoiding arrest, and that the court erred in finding the CCP aggravator.

The lower court correctly ruled that issues which were or could have been raised on direct appeal are not cognizable on 3.850 and are procedurally barred:

"Post conviction motions are not to be used as second appeals. Medina v. State, 573 So. 2d 293 (Fla. 1990). Issues that were or could have been raised on direct appeal are not cognizable in a Rule 3.850 motion. Cherry v. State, Fla. L. Weekly S451 (Fla. Aug. 31, 1995), citing Boylev. State, 526 So. 2d 909, 911 (Fla. 1988); Lopez v. Singletary, 634 So. 2d 1054 (Fla. 1993), citing Johnson v. State, 593 So. 2d 206 (Fla. 1992, cert. denied, --- U.S. ---, 113 S.Ct. 119, 121 L.Ed.2d 75 (1992). Under the authority of these Florida Supreme Court opinions, the court finds that the following

claims are procedurally barred: A, I, J, K, L, M, N, 0, P, Q, R and $T.^{\prime\prime}$

(R 329).

Unlike co-defendant James, Clark did not object to the constitutional validity of the HAC instruction or raise the claim on direct appeal, as he acknowledges in the accompanying habeas corpus petition. Clark, since he cannot allege sufficient cause and prejudice to excuse the procedural defaults under Wainwright v. Svkes, 433 U.S. 72, 53 L.Ed.2d 594 (1977), simply chants the mantra of 'ineffective counsel." This Court has held that counsel at trial is not deemed ineffective for failing to object to HAC and CCP instructions on vaqueness grounds in cases prior to <u>Espinosa v. Florida</u>, 505 U.S. , 120 L.Ed.2d 854 (1992). Harvey v. Dugger, 656 So. 2d 1253, 1258 (Fla. 1995). And this Court has additionally determined that appellate counsel is not deficient under Strickland prior to Espinosa since the Court would have rejected the claim on direct appeal. Lambrix v. <u>Singletary</u>, 641 So. 2d 847, 849 (Fla. 1994).

Appellant mentions at page 52 of his brief that an evidentiary hearing should be ordered. Clark submitted to the trial court as a proffer the deposition testimony of trial counsel Simson Unterberger -- and the state stipulated to its

admissibility -- which the trial court considered in denying relief (R 456-580, R 585-586). No further hearing is necessary.9

Clark's attempt in sections B, C, D and E to have this Court either reconsider prior decided issues or consider for the first time issues that could or should have been urged on initial direct appeal must fail. Atkins v. Duaaer, 541 So. 2d 1165 (Fla. 1989).

Clark argues that there is no procedural bar since counsel did object and this Court previously considered and rejected his doubling up of robbery and pecuniary gain argument. 443 so. 2d at 977. But the lower court correctly understood and applied Florida law that collateral challenges are not a vehicle for reasserting previously rejected claims. And, as in Wuornos v. State, 644 So. 2d 1000 (Fla. 1994), this Court noted that the trial court's order did not improperly count these factors twice.

In footnote 34 of his brief Clark contends that his 1972 robbery conviction was illegally obtained; his casual footnote observation without brief does not satisfy the requirements of Duest v. Dugger, 555 So. 2d 849, 851-52 (Fla. 1990) and must be

⁹This court is well aware that trial counsel objected to sufficiency of the HAC evidence and successfully urged this Court to reject the trial court's findings. <u>Clark v. State</u>, 443 So. 2d 973, 977 (Fla. 1983).

deemed waived. In any event Clark's prior convictions have **not**been vacated and thus **Johnson v. Mississippi**, 486 U.S. 578, 100

L.Ed.2d 575 (1988) is inapplicable. See **Henderson v. Singletary**,
617 So. 2d 313, 316 (Fla. 1993).

ISSUE IV

WHETHER THE INSTRUCTION TO THE JURY THAT ITS RECOMMENDATION WAS ADVISORY COUPLED WITH REMARKS BY THE PROSECUTOR DEPRIVED APPELLANT OF A RELIABLE SENTENCING.

In ground P of his motion to vacate appellant complained about improper instructions and improper prosecutorial argument concerning the jury's sentencing role. The prosecutor correctly argued that these claims were not subject to collateral challenge (R 295-296) and the trial court correctly determined that such claims were matters for direct review and not subject to challenge via Rule 3.850 (R 329).

Appellant half-heartedly intimates that no procedural default impediment stands in his way because Caldwell v.

Mississippi, 472 U.S. 320, 86 L.Ed 231 (1985) was decided after his trial and appeal. But the same can be said of the defendant in Dugger v. Adams, 489 U.S. 401, 103 L.Ed.2d 435 (1985) where the Supreme Court enforced the state court's application of the procedural default policy.

ISSUE V

WHETHER THE PROSECUTOR VIOLATED CLARK'S **DUE** PROCESS RIGHTS BY HIS COMMENTS REGARDING SYMPATHY.

The prosecutor correctly argued below that this claim was procedurally barred from collateral challenge since it could have been raised previously citing <u>James v. State</u>, 615 So. 2d 668, 669 (Fla. 1993) (R 297-298). The trial court also correctly denied the claim as barred since post-conviction motions are not to be used as second appeals (R 329).¹⁰

¹⁰Appellant attempts to avoid the procedural bar resulting from trial counsel's failure to object and appellate counsel's failure to argue the issue on appeal by incanting counsel's ineffectiveness as cause but he cites no decision by this Court suggesting that failure to object to such a prosecutor's remark would be constitutional deficiency mandating relief under Strickland. To the extent that appellant is arguing that California, 479 U.S. 538, 93 L.Ed.2d 934 (1987) affords him relief, essentially his argument was foreclosed in Saffle v.Parks, 494 U.S. 484, 108 L.Ed.2d 415 (1990).

ISSUE VI

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON GUILT PHASE ISSUES.

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